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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOSEPH A. O'KEEFE, et al., : CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiffs, :
V. : No.: 11<cv-1330
ACE RESTAURANT SUPPLY, LLC., et al.,
Defendants.
MEMORANDUM
SITARSKI, M. J. February 27, 2019

Plaintiff Joseph O’Keefe (“Plaintiff”) alleges that Deferds Ace Restaurant Supply,
LLC; Korey Blanck;and NidolasBlanck (collectively, “Defendants”) hawemmitted various
frauds and knowinglyailed to provide ontractedfor piecesof kitchen equipment for his new
restaurant Following a bench trial and pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a), this
Court now issues its findings of fact and conclusions of law. For the followingngabe
Courtfinds forall Defendants on Counts | and Il, respectively asserting violations of the RICO
Statute, 18 U.S.C. 88 1962(c), (d). The Court finds for Defendant Nicholas Blanck on all
Counts. The Court finds for Plaintiff agaim3fendant Korey Blanck aridefendant Ace
Restaurant Supply, LL@n Plaintiff's Counts lll, IV, V, and VI, asserting state lalaims of

fraud, unjust enrichment, and negligent misrepresentation.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On February 28, 2011, Plaintiff filed the instant Complaint in the United StategxDist
Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. (Pl.’'s Compl., ECF No. 1). Hialiegeda
violation of the Federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RIC®

U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Count I); a RICO conspiracy clamng 1962(d) (Count II); and additional

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/pennsylvania/paedce/5:2011cv01330/407736/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/pennsylvania/paedce/5:2011cv01330/407736/78/
https://dockets.justia.com/

state law counts of frau@ount Ill); unjust enrichmeniCount IV); intentional nisrepresentation
(Count V); and negligent misrepresentation (Count V). gt 19 12109). Defendants
responded to the Complaint with a Motion to Dismiss filed pursuant to Rule 12([D§6)’

Mot. Dismiss, ECF No. 6), which the Honorable R. Barclagri€kidenied (Mem. & Op., ECF
No. 12; Order, ECF No. 13).

On January 31, 2016, Defendants filed their Answers to Plaintiff's Complaint..’ (Defs
Answers, ECF Nos. 16, 17). Subsequently, the case was refethedQourt’sarbitration
program. (Order,ECF No. 22). The arbitration was held on June 8, 2016, before a three-
arbitrator panel (Not. of Hr'g, ECF No. 20see alsd&CF No. 23). Following the arbitration,
Defendants filed a request for trial de novo (ECF No. 24), and Plaintiff filed a Mot®inike
Defendants’ request for trial de novo. (Pl.’s Mot. Strike, ECF No. 25). On September 7, 2016,
Judge Surrick denied Plaintiff's Motion to Strike the request. (Order, ECF No. 27).

After various motions and pretrial conferences (ECF Nos. 34-60), and upon consent of all
parties, Judge Surrick transferred this matter tologeOrder dated May 29, 2018. (Order, ECF
No. 62). | held a bench trial on August 8, 2018. (Transcript, ECF NoPlantiff testifiedat
trial, and called as witnesses Defendant Nicholas Blanck and Defendant Korey Blanck.
Defendants called no witness&3n October 5, 2018, the parties submitted their Proposed
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (ECF Nos. 73, 74). The Court has rethewed
testimony the parties’ proposed findings of fact and conclusions gfdanthe exhibits
introduced at trial. Upon this recorhich includes criticatredibility findings, the Court

makes its findings of fact and conclusions of law.



Il. FINDINGS OF FACT

To briefly summarize, Plaintiff testified that he entered tato contracts wittDefendant

Ace Restaurant Supphelying upon the fraudulemisrepresentations of AcePresident

Defendant Korey BlanckPlaintiff testified thahe did not receive the contractid items nor

did he receive any refund for the money he paid pursuant to those contracts. The Gibairt cre

Plaintiff's testimony. Defendants disagree with Plaintiff’'s version ohts/end testified that

they deliveredhe items to Simmeria as required under the contracts. The Court concludes that

Defendants’ testimony was not crediblanany critical respects, as set forth below

A.

1.

The Parties

At the time of the events in questidtaintiff Joseph O’Keefevasthe president
of Simmeria Café & Bistr¢*Simmeria”), a restaurant located in Fleetwood,
Pennsylvania, which he formed in the early part of 2010.

At the time of the events in question, Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply, LLC,
wasa business incorporated under the laws of Pennsylvania, with its principal
place of business at 2100 North Eleventh Street, Reading, Pennsylvania 19604.

Defendant Korey Blanck is an adult individual with last known residential address
at 750 Chestnut Street, Reading, Pennsylvania 1980the time of the events,
Defendant Korey Blanck wake president, owner, and sole shareholder of
Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply.

Defendant Nibolas Blanck is an adult individual, akdrey Blancks son. He
worked asan employee of Defendant Ace Restaurant Suaplg deliveryman
He was also taskealith cleaning up used restaurant equipment for delivery to
customers

Background of the Instant Litigation: The February 12, 2010 Meeting

Plaintiff learned of Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply through a former law
partner’s friend, who informed Plaintiff he should contact Ace Restaurant Supply
to equipSimmeria,and that Defendartorey Blanck was “the guy to talk to.”

(Tr., 8/8/18, ECF No. 71t 36:20-23).

Plaintiff contactedefendant Korey Blanck anice Restaurant Supply to outfit
Simmeria with restaurant equipmer®n February 12, 2010, Defendant Korey
Blanck went to Simmeria to meet with Plaintifid.(at 10:11-14).



10.

Defendant Koreylanck came to Simmeranddrew adiagramfor Plaintiff,
detailingtheequipment Plaintiff neededPlaintiff credibly testified that

Defendant Korey Blanctsketched out what he was going to do. He gave me the
whole equipment list. | mean, he reajigve me a great picture of how he was
going to hook me up and set me upld. @t 37:25-38:3). Defendant Korey

Blanck specifiedor Plaintiff the pieces of equipmehe would provide, and
“sketched it out in terms of the line as to how it would fit i@ $pace and what
equipment would go where.Id at 20:46).

Plaintiff relieduponDefendant Korey Blanck representations and diagramming,
and purchased the equipmeaentifiedon thediagramthat Defendant Korey
Blanck preparedor Plaintiff. Plaintiff credibly testified that Defendant Korey
Blanck’s representations regarding the reewl used restaurant equipment and
sketch was “where we got the list for the equipmentd’ gt 20:12). Thus,
Plaintiff entered into twaontracs for the sale bthoseidentified items. Id. at
20:10-19, 37:25-38)3

The representations made bgfendant Korey Blanck to Plaintiff in conjunction
with the preparation dhat diagramand during the conversations they had when
the diagram was preparesere false.Plaintiff credibly testified that he “received
nothing, anything of the kind that was on the sheet. The most that | got was a

bunch of broken, used stuff that was just dumped at [Simmeria]. . . it was nothing
new, nothing as representeti[(Ild. at 11:25:-12:2, 12:92

The February 2010 Contract
On February 12, 2010, Plaintéhtered into a contract with Defendant Ace
Restaurant Supply througice’s president, DefendaKbrey Blanck Pursuant to
that contract, Plaintiff purchasédge following items:

a. One newstainless sted¢loodwith exhaust fan, costing $2,669.00;

b. One used two-box five-tap beer system, costing $2,795.00;

c. One used under-counter dishwasher, costing $2,350.00;

d. One new twedoor glass lowboy for beer, costing $3,890.00;

e. One new twentfour inch Castle flat top gas grill, costing $870.00;

f.  One new twentfour inch Castle rock gas charbroiler, costing $825.00;

g. One new two basket floor fryer, costing $840.00;

h. One new VdIrath eightbird rotisserie countertop cooker, costing
$2,785.00;



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

i. One new threday sink, costing $699.00;
j.  One new greaskap, costing $465.00;

k. Two new infrared countertop ranges, costing $349.00 each, and $798.00
total;

[.  One new forty-eight inch Bain Marie, costing $1,875.00;

m. One new equipment stand, costing $360.00. (Defs.” Ex. 1) (Feb. 12, 2010,
Sales Agreement).

The total cost of the items was $21,221.00. Plaintiff received a credit of
$1,785.00 for trading in other equipment. In total, Plaintiff paid “$20,602.16
which include[d] $1,166.16 in Basylvania sales taxbr the items identifiedh
the February 12, 2010 Sales Agreemeld. gt 11:18-19see alsd”l.’s Prop.
Findings of Fact, Ex. 1, at 1-2 (Feb. 12, 2010, Sales Agreement)).

As noted above, the February 12, 2010 Sales Agreement specified that many of
the items would be “new,” and one item would be “usetd’; Defs.” Ex. 1).

The March 2010 Contract

On March 16, 201®Rlaintiff entered into a second contract with Ace Restaurant
Supplywhich “was a supplemental order [| while we were waiting for the new
equipment that we thought was on ordefTt.,(at 14:11-14). This supplemental
order provided for the following items:

a. One new Castlbake oven with wire rack and stone on the bottom shelf,
costing $2,960.00;

b. One used hot dog roller grill, costing $779.00;
c. One used acrylic roller cover, costing $170.00;
d. One round up bun steamer, costing $499(@efs.” Ex. 2).

Plaintiff paid a total of $4,672.48 for the supplemental order, which included
$264.48 in Pennsylvania sales talRl.’6 Ex. 1, at 4 Defs.” Ex. 2). Also on
March 16, 2010, Defendants faxed to Plaintiff a “Coedtivoice” listing this
equipment and corresponding prices. (Defs.” Ex. 3).

The April 2010 Celivery

On April 12, 2010, Defendants mailed and faxed to Plaintiff a letter statieg,
alia, that “[a]ll your equipment has arrived except for the Castle Bake Oven and
Custom Back Bar Sliding Door Cooler.” (Defs.” Ex. 4).



16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Defendant Nicholas Blandkstified that he worked for Ace Restaurant Supply as
a deliveryman. He alsdeanedup used equipment for deliveryTr(, at 51:20-
21, 52:24-53:15).

Defendant Nicholas Blanck testified that he recalled delivering items to Simmeria
on two occasions, artlat the items he delivered were listed on two delivery
forms. (d.at 70:20-72:10);9ee alsdefs.’ Exs. 5, 11) (the Delivery Forms).

The first delivery occurred on April 30, 2010. (Def.’s Ex. 5) (April 30, 2010
Delivery Form). One item, a “2 BoxEap Beer System” was identified as “on
hold.” (Id.). The following items were listed as deliver@athe form:

a. 6’6" Stainless Steel Hood

b. Undercounter Dishwasher;

c. 2 Door Glass Lowboy Back Beer;
d. 2 Basket Fryer

e. Countertop Rotisserie;

f. 48" Bain Marie

g. Waffle Iron;

h. 48" x 30" Equipment Stand.Id).

Plaintiff credibly testified that the items delivered were not in the condition
promised under the contradtor example, Plaintiff testified “[t|here was a

broken dishwasher. | think there was a broken cooler, like a used broken cooler.
None of the stuff was new.” (Tr., at 41:12-18)aintiff crediblytestified that
“everything that was delivered here eddup going right back on a truck where

our new equipment came because it was just all trasth.’at48:16-18).

Parties’ Communications andthe May Correspondences

Plaintiff testified that he contacted Defendants “[m]ultiple times” to find out
about the status of the items which had not yet been delivered, and to complain
about the condition of items he receivmetause they were not in the contracted
for condition. (d. at15:4-18). He credibly testified that “when | did [contact
Defendants], | would get the son on the phone pretending he wdsnivas just

an employee. | would get the father giving me excuses. They were constantly
pointing fingers back and fortt each one. | actually drove there. And one time,
| saw them going out the back door when they saw me pulling up in the front.”
(Id. at 15:18-23). On another occasion when Plaintiff confronted Defendants
about the equipment, “[tlhey were just laughing, both [Defendants Korey and
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21.

22.

23.

24,

Nicholas Blanck]. In fact, at one point, [Defendant Nicholas Blanck] said, ‘Why
don’t you just go to the restaurant supply store®d. gt 21:7-10). The Court
credits Plaintiff’s testimonys to Defendants’ efforts to evadis questions and
complaints about the equipment.

On May 20, 2010, Plaintiff wrote Defendants a letter, requesting “all itdragd
purchased for Simmeria” be delivered by May 25, 2@ trnatively,Plaintiff
requested “a complete refund(PIl.’s Ex. 1 at 6); (Defs.” Ex. 13).

In his letter, Plaintiff expressed frustration at his “inability to get: A) ragula
returned phone calls; B) a straight answer without double talk and total vagaries;
or C) a firm delivery date for everything we hguechased.” Rl.'s Ex. 1 at 6)

(Defs.” Ex. 13). Additionally, Plaintiff noted that “despite me repeatedly
discussing with Korey that | was relying on his expertise (and his asssr¢éhat

he would make sure we had the exact equipment we need), théterarerns’

with some of the equipment he selected for u&d?).( At trial, Plaintiff explained

his concerns werénter alia, that he received “a broken unessunter

dishwasher” and other inoperable equipmeBtg(Tr., at 13:24-25).

Defendant Korey Blanck responded mailthe next dayon May 21, 2010.

(Pl’s Ex. 1 at 8); (Defs.” Ex. 14). Defendant Korey Blanck responded that
“[m]any of your statements as contained in your 5/20/10 letter come as a
complete surprise. . . You ordered, you partt] we delivered everything except
one small baking oven. That is the fact of your entire sale dated 2/121d().” (
He further wrote that “I am sorry Ace will be late in delivering (1) oneeiaf
countertop equipment to Simmeria Café & Bistpecifically a countertop baking
oven of which has been ordered for yould.), Defendant Korey Blanck’s
representations in this letter were falgdthoughDefendant Korey Blanck
representethat Defendants had “delivered everything except one small baking
oven . .. [listed] in the entire sale dated 2/12/10;” the February 12, 2010 Sales
Agreement provided for fourteen items, and Defendants had delivered anly—
most—eight items. CompareDefs.” Ex. 1 (February 12, 2010 Sales Agreement),
with Defs.” Ex. 5 (April 30, 2010 Delivery Forn))

The May 25, 2010 Delivery

The second delivery occurred on May 25, 2010. (Defs.” Ex. 11) (May 25, 2010
Delivery Form). The following items were listed as delivered:

a. Used 2 Box 5 Tap Beer System,;
b. New Greasetragp
c. New 24" Comstockzastle Char Broiler

d. New 4 Burner Stove. (Defs.” Ex. 11).



25.

26.

27.

However, Plaintiff credibly testified that those items were broken, unugable,
otherwisenot in the contracted-for condition. (Tat46:22-49:14).

Plaintiff did not recaie all the equipment he bargained for, and paid for, under

the two contracts with Ace Restaurant Supply and Defendant Korey Blanck
Plaintiff never received a refund for money paid to Defendants for items he never
received. Defendants’ failure to delivéhe contractedor equipmentelayedhe
planned opening of Simmeria by “probably a month or twéd” gt 18:24).

Plaintiff “had to [go] out and obtain all separate equipment and establish the
kitchen.” (d. at 18:2021).

The Items Plaintiff Received and the Condition of those Items

Theitems Plaintiffordered via the contracts, versus the items listed as
“delivered” and the condition in which they were delivered, are summarized
below. CompareDefs.” Exs. 12 (February and March Sales Agmeents)with
Defs.” Exs. 5, 11 (April and May Delivery Forms)).

Contracted-For Items Listed on Delivery Forms

1. NewStainless Steel Hood Listedas deliveredbut notasnew.

2. Used Two-Box Fiv@-ap Beer System | On hold, theristed asdelivered

3. Used Under-counter Dishwasher Listedas delivered

4. New twoedoor glass lowboy for beer | Listedas deliveredbut notasnew.

5. New twentyfour inch Castle Flattop ga| Not listedas delivered.

grill

6. New twentyfour inch Castle rock gas | Listedas delivered, listed as new
charbroiler

7. New two basket floor fryer Listedas deliveredbut notasnew.
8. New Vollrath 8-bird rotisserie Listedas deliveredbut notasnew.
9. New three-bay sink Not listedas delivered.

10. New greastap Listedas delivered, listeds new

11. Two new infrared countertop ranges | Not listedas delivered.

12. New 48inch Bain Marie Listedas deliveredbut notas new

13. New Equipment stand Listedas deliveredbut notasnew.

14. New Castle Bake oven with wiraek | Not listedas delivered.
and stone on bottom shelf

15. One used hot dog roller grill Not listedas delivered.
16. One used acrylic roller cover Not listedas delivered.
17. One round up bun steamer Not listedas delivered.




28.

29.

30.

31.

Plaintiff did not receive all the items lparchased under tlwontracs.

Additionally, the items Plaintiff did receive were not in the condipoomised
under the contractBy way of example, Plaintiffrediblytestified regarding the
condition of equipment delivered per the May 25, 2010 Delivery Form:

a. Item listed: Used 2 Box 5 Tap Beer System. (Defs.” Ex. 11). Plaintiff
testified that this was “the broken cooler that | recall gettingt didn’t
work.” (Tr., at46:25-47:1, 7).

b. Item lised: New Greasetrap. (Defs.” Ex. 1Blaintiff testified that “it
wasn’t new.” {r., at47:4).

c. Item listed: New 24” ComstoeKastle Charbroiler. (Defs.” Ex. 11).
Plaintiff testified that “[i]t was not new and it did not work.Tr(, at
47:25-48:1).

d. Item listed: New fowburner stove. (Defs.” Ex. 11). Plaintiff testified that
the stove was inoperable and that he did not “recall that we ever received a
functional stove from them.” (Tr., at 48:13-14).

e. Plaintiff testified that none of the “newtams were delivered with
paperwork that typically accompanies new equipment, such as
manufacturer warranty paper work, manufacturer guarantees, osotfer
documentation. I¢. at49:3-12). Plaintiff credibly testified thahe “new”
items were notlelivered in boxes, as one would expect with new
restaurant equipment shipped from a manufacturer, but rather “[tlhey
literally looked like they were just pulled out of a defunct something and
dropped at our place.”ld. at 49:13-14).

In sum,Plaintiff did not receive the items that he contracted and paid for under
the February 12, 2010 Sales Agreement and March 16, 2010 Sales Agreement.
Any items that Plaintiff did receive were notthe condition promised undtre
contracts, because several of the items were used, and some of the items were
inoperabé.

Summary of Factual Findings andCredibility Determinations

Plaintiff testified thaDefendant Korey Blanck came to Simmeria Restaurant and
diagrammed the kitchen sep, identifying all thenew and used restaurant
equipment he would provide to Plaintiff. Relying on this diagram and
representation, Plaintifngaged in negotiations and discussions with Ace’s
president, Defendant Korey Blanck, and thus enteredwd@ontracts with Ace
Restaurant Supply Plaintiff testified thaheneverreceived all the contractddr
items andany items he did receive were not in the contratedondition

Plaintiff credibly testified that he purchased replacement equipment from other



32.

33.

vendors, and heeverreceived any refunffom Ace Restaurant Supply or Korey
Blanck The Court credits Plaintiff's testimony.

Defendant Nicholas Blanck testified that he worked as an independent contractor
for Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply, delivering and clearsedaqguipment.

The Court credits that testimony. However, to the extent Defendant Nicholas
Blanck testified that he delivered the contradimdtems to Simmeria and that
those items complied with the contragseeTr. 70:20-72:15), the Court

concludes that his testimony is not credible. Defendant Nicholas Blanck’s
testimony is contradicted and rebutted by Plaintiff's credible testimony thad he d
not receive all the contractdédr items and that the items were not in the
condition required by the contractBurther, to the extent Defendant Nicholas
Blanck testified that he delivered all the items Plaintiff contracted for, that
testimony is facially rebutted by the differences between the items listed on the
Sales Agreements, atitbse on the Delivery FormsCg¢mpareDefs.” Exs. 12
(Sales Agreementsyith Defs.’ Exs. 5, 11 (Delivery Forms)).

Defendant Korey Blanck’testimony was not credihlandwascontradicted by
other evidence of record and Plaintiff's credible testimony. By way of non-
exhaustive examples:

a. Defendant Korey Blanck testified that there was no “reason to refund any
of [Plaintiff's] money . . . [b]Jecause we delivered what he ordered. He
picked everything out. We don’t design and install equipmefrt”, &t
118:15, 21-22). However, Defendants did not deliver all the items
Plaintiff ordered, as indicated by Plaintiff's credible testimaarydas
confirmed by the discrepancies between the Sales Agreements and the
Delivery Forms. CompareDefs.’ Exs. 12 (Sales Agreementsyith
Defs.’ Exs. 5, 11 (Delivery Forms)@ee alsqTr. 46:2549:14).

Moreover, contrary to Defendant’s assertion that “[Plaintiff] picked
everything out,” Plaintiff credibly testified that Defendant Korey Blanck
cameto Simmeria and diagrammed the restaurant laydentifying

equipment he would provide to outfit the kitchetd. &t 20:4-6, 37:25-

38:3). Additionally, although Defendant Korey Blanck stated that “[w]e
don’t design and install equipment,” he also testified about another lawsuit
in state court, stating that “[w]e want[ed] to deliver and install the hood
with the installation hood and the owner would not let the hood be
installed where it was originally designed forld.(at 95:20-23). He

further provded that the plaintiff in that case “wouldn’t let us install

where it was supposed to be installed for safety and ifot safe where

the hood is to be installed, my persons who did the install are not going to
install the hood because the customer changes her mind and wants another
location.” (d. at 96:13-17).

b. Defendant Korey Blanck testified that Plaintiff picked allthe
equipment, and that he picked out “[z]ero” equipmeid. gt 119:1-4).

10



34.

35.

36.

He further testified that “[Plaintiff] walked up drdown in our showroom

and picked up the equipment that he wanted . . . [h]e came to our location,
... [@]nd there were lots of equipment there, new and used. Hundreds of
pieces, filled, and it wasn’t junk off of something as he puts it, junk off
from atruck or out of the bar. Everything was clean and polished and
shined if it was used. A lot of new.Id( at 119:7-16). But, this

testimony is rebutted by Plaintiff's credible testimony that Defendant
Korey Blanckcame to the restauramiagrammedhe kitchen and selected
the list of equipment. Id. at 20:4-6, 37:25-38:3). Additionally, Plaintiff
credibly testified that “the one time that | went in [to Ace Restaurant
Supply] and try—I couldn’t pin them down physically being in the

location and | gt to tell you, | was stunned because when | walked in
there, it was just unbelievable. I'm thinking I'm dealing with a new
restaurant equipment supply company and instead, there’s nothing but a
bunch of broken, used stuff that it looks like they picked up at auctions or
whatever close out thing they could find from a bar somewhere and just
pull in to the place.” Ifl. at 16:4-12).

c. Defendant Korey Blanck testified that “[t{]he word new is not going to be
used on delivery form[s].” I4. at 90:2). Thisdstimony is contradicted by
the Delivery Forms as the May 25, 2010 Delivery Form lists the following
items: “Used 2 Box 5 Tap Beer Cooler, New Greasetrap, New 24”
Comstock-Castle Char Broiler, New 4 Burner Stove.” (Defs.” Ex. 11).

Misrepresentationsand Predicate Acts

On February 12, 2010, Defendant Korey Blauited Simmeria On that date,
hemisrepresented to Plaintiff that he wowldtfit the kitchen with new equipment
and provide the layout of the kitcheBefendant Korey Blanck made these
misrepresentations knowing that he and Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply would
not provide the equipment Igentified in the diagramand subsequently listed on
the February 12, 2010 Sales Agreement and March 16, 2010 Sales Agreement.
Defendant Korey Blanck nde these misrepresentations with the ingént

inducing Plaintiff's reliance antb defraud Plaintiff of monies.

On March 16, 2010, Defendants faxed a “Corrected Invoice” to Plaintiff listing
the items in the March 16, 2010 Sales Agreement. (Defs.” Ex. 3). Defendants
misrepresented that they would provide the equipment listed in this Corrected
Invoice via fax, made this misrepresentation with the intent of inducing Plaintiff
to pay money for the listed equipment, and made this misrepresentation o furth
their scheme of defrauding Plaintiff.

On April 12, 2010, Defendant Korey Blana@gting as President of Defendant

Ace Restaurant Supplyaxed and mailed a letter to PlaintiffTr., at 127:1-16,
129:8-11). Defendant Korey Blanck misrepresenteti“fall your equipment

has arrived except for the Castle Bake Oven and Custom Back Bar Sliding Door

11



Cooler.” (Defs.” Ex. 4).Defendant Korey Blanck made this misrepresentation in
furtherance of the scheme to defraud Plaintiff.

37. On May 21, 2010, DefendaKorey Blanck acting as President of Defendant Ace
Restaurant Supplynailed a letter to Plaintiff responding to Plaintiff's May 20,
2010 letter. (Defs.” Ex. 14). In Defendant Korey Blanck’s May 21, 2010 letter,
he misrepresented thdy]ou ordered, you paid, and we delivered everything
except one small baking oven. That is the fact of your entire sale dated 2/12/10.”
(Id.). Defendant Korey Blanck made this misrepresentation knowing that
Defendants, in fact, had not delivered all the equipment per the February 12, 2010
Sales Agreement, and made this misrepresentation in furtherance of the scheme to
defraud Plaintiff.
II. LEGAL STANDARDS
Plaintiff asserts a claim fosiolation of the Federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Count I); a RICO conspiraay did. 8
1962(d) (Count 1l); and additional state lal@imsof fraud (Count Il1); unjust enrichment
(Count IV); intentional misrepresentation (Count V); and negligent misrqmason (Count
VI). (Id. at 11 12109). The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff's RICO claims under
28 U.S.C. § 1331, and supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367.“A federal court exercising supplemental jurisdiction over state law catiseian
must apply the substantive law of the State as interpreted by the State'st loigylt.”
Silverstein v. Percudan22 F. Supp. 2d 468, 471 (M.D. Pa. 2006) (citng R.R. v.
Tompking304 U.S. 64, 78 (1938)ff'd 207 F. App’x 238 (3d Cir. 2006).
Plaintiff bearsburden of provindpis civil RICO claims, and state law claims of unjust
enrichment and negligent misrepresentation, by a “preponokeadrithe evidencé United States
v. Local 560 of Intern. Broth. Of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen, and Helpers of

Americg 780 F.2d 267, 279 n.12 (3d Cir. 1988¢ge also Forth Washington Resources, Inc. v.

Tannen 858 F. Supp. 455, 451 (E.D. Pa. 1994). He bears the burden of proving his state law

12



claim of fraud by clear and convincing eviden&BC, Inc. v. Clark Bldg. Sys., In618 F.3d
253, 275-76 (3d Cir. 2010) (citirgkurnowicz v. Lucgir98 A.2d 788, 793 (Pa. Super. Ct.

2002)).

V. ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

As noted Plaintiff asserts violation of the Federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (“RICQO”), 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Count I); a RICO conspiraay cia.
§ 1962(d) (Count I1); and additional state lelimsof fraud (Count Ill); unjust enrichment
(Count IV); intentional misrepresentation (Count V); and negligent misraqmason (Count
VI1). (Pl.’'s Compl. at 1 12-109). We address each in turn.

A. Count I: RICO

Section 1962(c) of the United States Code provides that “[i]t shall be unlawful for any
person employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, . . . inberfsisgyn
commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduathfenterprise’s
affairs throudp a pattern of racketeering activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). To prove a violation of
§ 1962(c), Plaintiff must show (1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattefn (4) o
racketeering activityKolar v. Preferred Real Estate Invs.’s, In861 F. App’x 354, 362 (3d
Cir. 2010) (citingSedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex C473 U.S. 479, 496 (1985)). A pattern of
racketeering activity requires at least two predicate acts of racketeering thegléded and that
amount to or pose a threat of conkd criminal activity.”Bonavitacola Elec. Contractor, Inc. v.
Boro Developers, Inc87 F. App’'x 227, 231 (3d Cir. 2003) (quotikig]. Inc. v. Northwestern

Bell Tel. Co, 492 U.S. 229, 239 (1989)). Predicate acts of racketeering include federal mail
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fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1341, and federal wire fradd§ 1343. Lum v. Bank of Am361 F.3d 217,
223 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)).

Plaintiff contends that “[i]t is clear from the testimony presented at Trial alonghweth
evidence that the Defendants have engaged in a ‘pattern of racketeering actiafined ich
the Federal [RICO] law.” (Pl.’s Proposed Findings, 1 93, ECF No. 73). Defendants contend tha
“Plaintiffs have failed to me[e]t their burden to establish a violation of RICOeae#timony
and admissible evidence fails to establish two (2) predicate acts efeagkg activity within
ten (10) years.” (Defs.” Proposed Findings of Fact at 13, ECF No. 74).

1. An Enterprise

The Court concludes that Plaintiff satisfied the fived elements of § 1962(c);
specifically, he proved the conduct of an enterprise. Plaintiff contends RI&Oenterprisas
establishedbecause “[b]oth Defendants have testified that they were the owner, agent and/or
employee of Defendant Ace and neitltould name any other employees or individuals with
ownership interest.” (Pl.’s Proposed Findings of Fact § 97). Defendants do not #Hudress
“enterprise” prongn their Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

The United States Code defines an “enterprise” as “any individual, paimers
corporation, association, or other legal entity, and any union or group of individsatsadsd in
fact although not a legal entity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). “There is no restriction upon the
associationembraced by the definition: an enterprise includes any union or group of individuals
associated in fact.'U.S. v. Turkette452 U.S. 576, 580 (1981). “RICO reaches ‘a group of
persons associated together for a common purpose of engaging in a course of toRdylet.’

v. U.S, 556 U.S. 938, 944 (2009) (quotiiigrkette 452 U.S. at 583). The United States

Supreme Court has stated that “[s]Juch an enterprise . . . ‘is proved by evidence of ag ongoi
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organization, formal or informal, and by evidence tha various associates function as a
continuing unit.”” Boyle 556 U.S. at 945 (quotinfurkette 452 U.S. at 583).

Plaintiff has shown an “enterprise” consisting of Defendant Korey Bldbefendant
Nicholas Blanck, and Defendant Ace Restaurant Sufdpéfendant Korey Blanck testified that
he was the President, sole shareholder, and sole decisionmaker of DefendagstAueaRt
Supply. (Tr. 76:6¢7:1, 100:822). Defendant Nicholas Blanck testified that he worked for
Defendant Ace Restaurant Supp$yaadeliveryman and he “helped clean up the equipment to
help my father out.” (Tr. 51:13-21, 52:24-46:23). Accordingly, Plaintiff as shown that
Defendants acted as an “enterprise” within the meaning of the RICO statutedofeyuwere a
“group of indiMduals associated in fact” and they were “associated together for a common
purpose of engaging in a course of condudiitkette 452 U.S. at 580, 583.

2. Pattern of RacketeeringActivity

A “pattern of racketeering activityequires at least two predicate acts of racketeering
activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5). Section 1961(1) sets furehexhaustive list apecific
predicate acts that may qualify as “racketeering activity.” 18 U&X961(1)see also Banks v.
Wolk 918 F.2d 418, 421 (3d Cir. 1990) (“No defendant can be liable under RICO unless he
participated in two or more predicate offense sufficient to constitute amp3ttekdditionally,
“[p]roving a pattern of racketeering activity requires plaintiff to shdwat'the racketeering
predicates are relateaindthat they amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal activity.”
Germinarq 737 F. App’x at 102 (quotingnited States v. Bergrjt650 F.3d 257, 267 (3d Cir.
2011))(emphasis in originalsee alsdd.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tel. C&92 U.S. 229, 239

(1989.
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| thus considewhether Plaintiff established adpern of racketeering activity.First, |
considemwhether Plaintiff showetht least two predicate acts of racketeering activity.” Next,
will discuss whether those “racketeering predicates are related.” Uastlyanalyze whether
the continuity prong is satisfied.

a. Predicate Acts

Plaintiff contends that the evidence at trial establishéficientpredicate acts;
specifically, he argues “[tlhese acts specifically show a violation of set8iéh (relating to mail
fraud); section 1343 (relating to wire fraud); section 1951 (relating to inteckergith
commerce); section 1952 (relating to racketegr section 1957 (relating to engaging in
monetary transactions in property derived from specified unlawful activi{fjl.’s Proposed
Findings of Fact at I 95Defendantdaldly assert that “Plaintiffs have failed to me[e]t their
burden to establish violation of RICO as the testimony and admissible evidence fails to
establish two (2) predicate acts of racketeering activity within tenygd¥.” (Defs.” Proposed
Findings of Fact, p.13 T 4).

Predicate acts of racketeering include federal mailfra8 U.S.C. § 1341, and federal
wire fraud,id. § 1343. Lum v. Bank of Am361 F.3d 217, 223 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing 18 U.S.C. §
1961(1)).“Mail or wire fraud consists of (1) a scheme to defraud, (2) use of the maikostate
wires to further thatcheme, and (3) fraudulent intentBonavitacola Elec. Contractor, Ing.
Boro Developers, Inc87 F. App’x 227, 231citing United States v. Phari298 F.3d 228, 233
(3d Cir. 2002)). The Third Circuit has “said that the words ‘to defraud’ commorytef
‘wrongdoing one in his property rights by dishonest methods or schemes,” and ugumély si
the deprivation of something of value by trick, deceit, chicane, or overreacl@egrhinarq

737 F. App’x at 104-05 (quotingnited States v. Hedaith@92 F.3d 580, 591 (3d Cir. 2004)).
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“When mail or wire fraud is the predicate act to a RICO violation, the plaintift adiege that
mailings are related to the underlying fraudulent scheme, even though maikagsatde an
essential element of the scheara&l need not themselves contain any misrepresentatihs.”
(citing Tabas v. Tabgst7 F.3d 1280, 1294 & n.18 (3d Cir. 1995)). This is because, in the
context of a RICO claim, “it is the scheme that must be fraudulent, not negesearil
particular. . . wire transmissions that constitute the offens&®far, 361 F. App’x 354, 362 (3d
Cir. 2010). “[T]he use of the mails need not be an essential element of the schame. It i
sufficient for the mailing to be ‘incident to an essential part of the sehama step in [the]
plot.”” Schmuck v. United State®89 U.S. 705, 710-11 (1989) (citations omitted).

The Court concludes that Plaintiff has shown the requisite number of predicate acts;
specifically, the evidence adduced at trial showed that Defénhdammitted at least three
predicate acts within ten years. Those three predicate acts webet f1arch 16, 2010,
Defendants committed wire fraud when they faxed a “Corrected Invoice” i laith the
intent to defraud Plaintiff of moneyDefs.’ Ex. 3); (2) on April 12, 2010, Defendants committed
wire and mail fraud when they faxed and mailed Plaintiff a letter containingpresentations
with the intent to further their scheme to defraud Plaintidefs.” Ex. 4) and (3) on May 21,
2010, Defadants committed mail fraud when they mailed Plaintiff a letter containing
misrepresentations with the intent to further their scheme to defraud Plgibefis.” Ex. 14).
Moreover, ach of these actsthe wire and mail fraudswereundertaken with “fraudulent
intent” and as part of the “scheme to defraud” PlaintiBonavitacola Elec. Contractor, Inc.
87 F. App’x at 231.

Accordingly, Plaintiffhas establishetthat Defendants committed the requigitedicate

acts.
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b. Relatedness

“Predicate acts anelated if evidence demonstrates ‘that the criminal activities have the
same or similar purposes, results, participants, victims, or methods of coomn@ssbtherwise
are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated.év&#minaro v.

Fidelity Nat'l Title Ins. Ca.737 F. App’x 96, 102 (3d Cir. 2018) (quotibgS. v. Bergrin650
F.3d 257, 267 (3d Cir. 2011)).

Here, the predicate acts of wire and mail fraud are related because the evidence
demonstrates th#tey “have the gae or similar purposes, results, participants, victims, or
methods of commission[.JGerminarqg 737 F. App’x at 102. Theredicateacts had the same
purpose and result of defrauding Plaintiff of money, laad the same participants, Defendants
Korey Blanck and Ace Restaurant Supply. Pphedicateacts had the same victim, Plaintiff.

And, thepredicateacts had the same methods of commission, through usage of the wires and
mailing. Accordingly, Plaintifhas established that the predicate acts were related.
C. Continuity

“Continuity’ is both a closed- and open-ended concept, referring either to a gesed
of repeated conduct, or to past conduct that by its nature projects into the future vatt afth
repetition.” H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone G2 U.S. 229, 241 (1989) (citing
Barticheck v. Fidelity Union Bank/First National Sta832 F.2d 36, 39 (3d Cir. 1987)As the
Supreme Court stated regarding closed- or open-ended continuity, “[i]t is, in eiteer C
centrally a temporal conceptH.J. Inc, 492 U.S. at 241-42.

Regarding closeénded continuity, “a party may establish continuity as a clesded
concept ‘by proving a series of related predicates extending eustantialperiod of time.”

Tabas v. Tabast7 F.3d 1280, 1292 (3d Cir. 1995) (emphasis in original) (queétidginc, 492
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U.S. at 242).For closedended continuity, “[a] shotierm scheme threatening no future criminal
activity will not suffice.” Kehr Packages, Inc. v. Fidelcor, In@26 F.2d 1406, 1412 (3d Cir.
1991). “The only (relative) absolute here should be that the predicates must stretcleastt

for more than three or four months to establish closed-ended continuity in light Stiheme]
Court’s instruction that ‘[p]redicate acts extending over a few weeks or monthsraatéhing

no future criminal conduct do not satisfy’ the continuity requiremenabas 47 F.3d at 1300
(quotingH.J. Inc, 492 U.S. at 242%ee also Kolar361 F. App’x at 365 (stating that a “single,
finite transaction cannot by itself underpin a pattern of racketeering a¢jivianks v. Wolk

918 F.2d 418, 421 (3d Cir. 1990) (single fraudulent scheme with no threat of repetition
insufficient to establisklosedended continuity)Marshall-Silver Construction Co. v. Mendel
894 F.2d 593, 597-98 (3d Cir. 1990) (sewveonth singlevictim scheme without threat of
additional criminal conduct did not satisfipsedendedcontinuity); Hughes v. Consol.-
Pennsylvania Coal Cp945 F.2d 594, 610-11 (3d Cir. 1991) (fraudulent conduct lasting twelve
months does not establish closed-ended continuity).

Here, Plaintiff has not proved a closed-ended period of continuity because the relate
predicate acts spanned the cowfthree months, beginning with wire fraud committed on
March 16, 2010, when Defendants faxed a “Corrected InvéacBTaintiff with the intent to
defraud Plaintiff of money, and ending with wire and mail fraud committed on May 21, 2010,
when Defendant Key Blanck mailed and faxed a letter to Plaintifth the intent to further the
scheme to defraud PlaintifiDefs.” Exs. 3, 14)Closedended continuity requires‘series of
related predicates extending ovesubstantialperiod of time’. Tabas 47 F.3dat 1292 (emphasis
in original) (quotingH.J. Inc, 492 U.S. at 242)The related predicates acts did not extend over a

substantial period of timeuffidentto satisfy closeeénded continuity.
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“[O]pen-ended continuity is established when the commissidhe predicate acts is a
‘regular way of conducting defendant’s ongoing legitimate busine3abas 47 F.3d at 1295
(quotingH.J. Inc, 492 U.S. at 243).The continuity requirement is likewise satisfied where it is
shown that the predicates areegular way of conducting defendant’s ongoing legitimate
business (in the sense that it is not a business that exists for criminal pyrmosespnducting
or participating in an ongoing and legitimate RICO ‘enterpristd.”at 1293 (quotingd.J. Inc,
492 U.Sat243. “The clear implication of this language is that the ambit of RICO may
encompass a ‘legitimate’ businessman who regularly conducts his business thegitghate
means, that is, who repeatedly defrauds those with whom he deals and, in the poouesds,
predicate acts, for instance by using the postal service as a means of atwogniplisscheme.”
Id.

“[S]ince the pattern inquiry must assess whether the defendant’s actionstamor
pose a threat of continued criminal activity, it is often helpful to examine tlenaatihich are
alleged to form the basis of criminal activityKehr Packages926 F.2d 1406, 1413 (3d Cir.
1991) (internal citations and quotations omitted). “However, if a defendant cetimitmerous
acts of deeit as part of multiple schemes or a single ongoing fraud, this fact would wentetie
the continuity question, although not necessarily dispositive. Moreover, it would benteteva
particular mailings, unlike those in this case, contained falsesteading statements or
otherwise constituted separate deceptive adts.”

Plaintiff has not presented sufficient evidence to establish theespbad continuity
prong. Although Defendant Korey Blanck’s conduct in this case was fraudulentaidedde

below, there is insufficient evidence to establish that the fraudulent actiditgradicate acts
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was Defendants’ “regular way of conducting [their] ongoing legitimate bssin@abas 47
F.3d at 1295 (quotingl.J. Inc, 492 U.S. at 243).

Plaintiff sought to establish “that the predicates are a regular way of conducting
defendant’s ongoing legitimate business” with evidence of similar lawsoitgir against
Defendants in Pennsylvania state coueePl.’s Ex. 2 (“Compendium of Certified State @b
Dockets”)). Plaintiff attached the complardgnd other documentation in the cakes & Nate
Steaks, LLC, et al. v. Ace Restaurant Supply, LLC, Korey Blanck, & Nicholas ,BlemdO-
7491, (Berks Cnty. Com. PI. Apr. 19, 2010), Afelasco & Cortez #b/a La Union Carniceria
Mini Market v. Ace Restaurant Supply, LLC & Korey Blanck d/b/a Ace Restaurant Supply
10-18684, (Berks Cnty. Com. PI., Oct. 29, 2010). The plaintiffs in $tase court cases raised
substantially similar claims to the claimpeesented hereclaims of fraud againgdefendant
Korey Blanckbecause heepresented that he and Defendant Ace would deliver and provide
certain equipment listed in contradigreceived payment for that equipment, and tiaded to
provide thebargaineefor equipment.

However,an earlier ruling in this case determirthadt the State Court Complaints
Plaintiff sought to admit were inadmissible hearsaglence (Order, ECF No. 48)Defendants
filed a Motion in Limine to preclude evidence of te&ate Court ComplaintsJudge Surrick
granted the motion, stating:

Defendants’ Motions state that Plaintiffs offered these
[State Court Complaints and] documents into evidence at the
Arbitration held in this matter on June 8, 2016. Defendants

anticipate that, at the trial before this Court, Plaintiffs will seek to
estabish a pattern of RICO behavior by introducing evidence of

1 For example, “Plaintiffs believe and therefore aver that such misrepresemtation
materially false in that Defendants: misrepresented the nature of the Equiprearot certified
by the City of Reading to install all of the Equipment; and have continued on arsioukrse of
conduct with other customers.” (Compl., 1 82Jasco No. 10-18684).
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these state court lawsuits. Defendants contend that admitting a
record of the state court actions would taint the jury’s feelings
towards Defendants by falsely implying that the allegations
contained within the state court records are established facts.

After reviewing Plaintiffs’ pleadings, it is evident that they
do intend to offer evidence of the prior state court complaints for
the truth of the matter asserted therein, and to attempt to
demonstrate a pattern of behavior necessary to prove their civil
RICO claims. Indeed, Plaintiffs acknowledge that they do in fact
intend to offer these documents at trial, since “the factual
allegations of each of the state court complaints . . . are near
identical to those contained within this mattePlaintiffs cite this
Court’s January 11 Memorandum for the proposition that the
misrepresentation and fraud charges contained within the two state
court records that were submitted to this Court at that time
demonstrate that Defendant Ace regularly committed fraud as part
of its normal business practices.

Notwithstanding Plaintiffs’ arguments that evidence of the

state court complaints is necessary to allow Plaintiffs to prove their

RICO claims, the evidence theeek to admit is hearsay. It is an

out of court statement being offered for the truth of the matter

contained therein. Moreover, Plaintiffs have failed to offer any

valid basis for the admission of these documents.
(Order, ECF No. 48(citations omitted)

In response to this ruling, Plaintiff filed a Response to Defendants’ Motidnisine.

(Pl.’s Resp., ECF No. 49). To cure the hearsay prolamtiff statedthathe had‘arranged
for the individual plaintiffs—each authorizedepresentative of the legal entity under which they
operated, within the two (2) predicate cases to appear and testify at thath Mr. and Mrs.
Carbajal will appear and testify . . . [s]o to will Mr. Velasco and Ms. Cortez appdaestify.”
(Id. at 2). Following Oral Argument on this issue, (Order, ECF No. 51; Minutes, ECF No. 52),
Judge Surrick ruled that Defendants’ Motions in Limine were dismissed as maaiseéfa]t

Oral Argument on these Motions it was determined that Defendants wogidenethe

opportunity to depose the witnesses that Plaintiff intends to present relatedubjéut actions,
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and that trial scheduled for July 18, 2017 would be continued to give Defendants time to conduct
the depositions.” (Order, ECF No. 53).

Notwithstanding any of this, Mr. and Mrs. Carbajal, Mr. Velasco, and Ms. Cortez did not
testify at trial. As Judge Surrickinitially concluded? (Order, ECF No. 48), the State Court
Complaints are inadmissible hearsay: they areobaburt statements offerddr the truth of the
matter asserted. F.R.E. 801(8espite Plaintf's representations to the contrary, none of the
state courplaintiffs appeared to testify at trial.herefore, because the State Court Complaints
are inadmissibléearsayPlaintiff cannot rely on those Complaints to establish that the related
predicate acts of wire and mail fraud are the Defendants’ regular way of dogdheir
business.

Accordingly, when viewing thadmissiblesvidencethe Court finds that Plaintiff has not
demonstrated open-ended continuity. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). Although Defendant Korey Blanck
committed fraud under Pennsylvania law, and Defendants committed numerous relditater
acts against Plaintiff, the admissible evidence does not support afthdirthis is Defendants’
“regular way of conducting [their] ongoing legitimate busineS&abas 47 F.3d at 1295
(quotingH.J. Inc, 492 U.S. at 243). As the Supreme Court noted, “[i]t is, in either case,
centrally a temporal conceptH.J. Inc, 492 U.S. at 241-42. Here, the admissible evidence

demonstrates an approximate thneenth fraudulent scheme committed against Plaintiff

2 Absent extraordinary circumstances, the law of the case doctrine cautions against
relitigating previously decided issues at a later stage in the litigdtiae Pharm Benefit
Managers Antitrust Litig 582 F.3d 432, 438-39 (3d Cir. 2008¢e also Hayman Cash Register
Co. v. Sarokin669 F.2d 162, 165 (3d Cir. 1982) (“Under the law of the case doctrine, once an
issue is decided, it will not be relitigatedthe same case, except in unusual circumstances.”).
There are no extraordinary circumstances to warrant revisiting JudgekSysrevious ruling
on this issue.
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Plainiff has thus failed to carryis burden of proving, with admissible evidentat Defendants
regularly conducted their business through the related predicaté acts.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Plaintiff has not satisfied the “contimribyg
required to prove a violation of Section 1962(c). Thus, the Court finds Defendants not liable on
Count I.

B. Count II: RICO Conspiracy

Section 1962(d) makes it “unlawful for any person to conspire to violate” Section
1962(c). To establish a RICO conspiracy, the plaintiff must show “(1) that two or meomper
agreed to conduct or to participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of aprese&y affairs
through a pattern of racketeering activity; (2) that the defendant wasyd@artmember of that
agreement; and (3) that the defendant joined the agreement or conspiracy knowing of it
objective to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of arpestes affairs
through a pattern of racketeering activityJhited States v. JohBaptiste 747 F.3d 186, 207
(3d Cir. 2014). Liability under Section 1962(d) may still be found even if the defendant has not

violated Section 1962(c)Smith v. Berg247 F.3d 532, 537 [T] he Supreme Court found that a

3 Another point weighs against finding open-ended continuity. The Supreme Court has
stated that, to show open-ended continuity, the plaintiff must prove that the commission of
predicate acts is the regular way of conducting Defendants’ “ongoingriatgtlusiness.”H.J.

Inc., 492 U.S. at 243. Defendant Korey Blanck testified that he retired, has wound down Ace
Restaurant Supply, and held a public auction of all assets. (Tr. 75:23-76:16, 83:23-84:1, 111:5-
114:10). “[T]he Supreme Court stressed that amptmust show also that ‘the racketeering

acts are relate@ndthat they amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal activiKetir
Packages, In¢926 F.2d at 1412 (quotirtd.J. Inc 492 U.S. at 239)On the record before me,

have no basis to conclude that Korey Blanck_has not retired, nor is there evidence toasupport
conclusion that Ace Restaurant Supply continues to do business selling restaurangmquipm

the absence of evidence supporting such conclusions, | cannot conclude that this casganvol
“ongoing legitimate business” or a “threat of continued criminal activity.”
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violation of section 1962(c) was not a prerequisite to a violation of section }1962(ting
Salinas v. United State522 U.S. 52, 65 (1997))).

The Court concludes that there is insufficient evidence to establish Defédaiiity
for a violation of Section 1962(d). Specifically, there is no evidence that “two @ peosons
agreed to conduct . . . an enterprise’s affairs thr@upattern of racketeering activityJohn-
Baptiste 747 F.3d at 207. Defendants Korey and Nicholas Blanck certainly agreed to conduct
the enterprise’s affairs, as shownbgfendant Korey Blanck’testimonyhe was the President
and sole shareholder of Defendant Ace and Defendant Nicholas Blanck’s tedtabine
worked for his father and Defendant Ac@r. 51:13-21, 52:24-46:23, 76:6-77:1, 100:8-22).
Thus, there was an agreement between the Defendants.

However, the agreement must be to conduct the enterprise’s affairs “throuitgra pia
racketeering activity.”"JohnBaptiste 747 F.3d at 207As the Third Circuit recently explained,
“[a] conspiracy may be found, . . ., ‘even if a conspirator does not ageceentuitor facilitate
each and every part of the substantive offense. The partners in the criminal plagnee$o
pursue the same criminal objective and may divide up the work, yet each is respiomde
acts of each other.”United States v. FattaiNo. 16-4397, 2019 WL 209109 at *33 (3d Cir. Jan.
16, 2019) (quotingalinas v. United State§22 U.S. 52, 63-64 (1997)). Here, there was no
evidence to conclude that Defendants “agree[d] to pursue thecsammeal objective.” While
the Court understands that such an agreement would likely not be made in plain view, there is
insufficient evidence to conclude that Defendants agreed to conduct their eaténumigh a
pattern of racketeering activity.

Although Defendant Korey Blanck committed fraud under Pennsylvania law, as detailed

immediately below, and Defendant Nicholas Blanck was complicit in, andessogui to, that
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fraud; that evidence does not provalsufficientbasis to findan agreement to cdaoct their
enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity. Accordingly, det @nds Defendants
not liableunder the RICO conspiracy law of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

C. Counts Il and V: Fraud and Intentional Misrepresentation®

Plaintiff next asserts a claifor fraudand intentional misrepresentation under
Pennsylvania law. (Pl.’s Proposed Findings of Fact §{ 107-15, 120-26). Defendants contend
that “Plaintiffs have failed to me[e]t their burden of establishing fraud on pHre defendants
relative to sales agreements dated February 12, 2010, and March 16, 2010.” (Defs.” Proposed
Findings of Fact, p. 13  5).

Under Pennsylvania law, to prevail on a claim of fraud or intentional misrepréserda
plaintiff must prove the following elements: (1) a representation; (2) which isiatatethe
transaction at hand; (3) made falsely, with knowledge of its falsity or s=rides as to whether
it is true or false; (4) with the intent of misleading another into relying on it; (5)iad&f
reliance on the misrepresentation; and (6) the resulting injury was @@kyncaused by the
reliance. EBC, Inc. v. Clark Bldg. Sys., In618 F.3d 253, 275-76 (3d Cir. 2010) (citing
Skurnowicz v. Lucgcir98 A.2d 788, 793 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2008¢e also Gibbs v. Ern€i47 A.2d
882, 889 (Pa. 1994). The plaintiff must prove each element by “clear and convincing evidence.”

Id.

4 In Counts Ill and V, Plaintiff asserts Pennsylvania law claims of fraddraentional
misrepresentation. (Pl.’s Compl. at §{ 77-87, 93-101). “The Pennsylvania courts, however, do
not distinguish between causes of action for fraud and intentional misrepresent&iiomlano
v. Claudiq 714 F. Supp. 2d 508, 518 (E.D. Pa. 2010) (ciGilgpos v. Ernst647 A.2d 882, 889
(Pa. 1994))see also Young v. Home Depot U.SMa. 15-5436, 2016 WL 8716423 at *5 (E.D.

Pa. Sept. 30, 2016) (discussing Pennsylvania law and stating “[t]he torts of fraud ationate
misrepresentation are the samel[.]”). Thus, Counts Il and V assert idamttduplicative
claims. Accordingly, the Court will analyze Plaintiff’'s Counts Ill and V togethengsi
Pennsylvania six-factor test.
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The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has “elaborated on those actions which would
constitute fraudulent behavior: ‘fraud consists in anything calculated to deséiether by
single act or combination, or by suppression of truth, or a suggestion of walaeisshether it
be by direct falsehood or by innuendo, by speech or silence, word of mouth, or look or gesture.
It is any artifice by which a person is deceived to his disadvantagatriis Bros. Co. v. Ford
Motor Co, 952 F.2d 715, 731 (3d Cir. 1991) (quotinge McClellan’s Estate75 A.2d 595,
598 (Pa. 1950)). “A fraud also occurs when one is induced to assent when he would not
otherwise have done sold. (citing Delahanty v. First Pennsylvania Bank, N.464 A.2d 1243,
1252 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1983

| conclude that Plaintiff has shown Defendadtsey Blanck and Ace Restaurant
Supply—through its President Korey Blanck—committed fraud under Pennsylaania’he
evidence establishes tHRiaintiff justifiably relied orDefendanKorey Blancks material
misrepresentation to Plaintiff thhé and Defendant Ace Restaurant Sujhyalgt the ability to
deliver certain specified equipment in certain identified conditions. | ufitietthat Defendant
Korey Blanckmade that material nispresentatiomtending Plaintiff to rely upon igndwith
the knowledge that Korey Blanck and Ace Restaurant Supply would not be providingeithe list
equipment in the identified conditioRs.

Plaintiff adducecevidence at triadufficient to establisbefendanKorey Blanck’s
fraud/intentional misrepresentatioRirst, Defendant Korey Blanck made a “representation” that
was “material to the transaction at han&pecifically, he represented that he and Defendant

Ace Restaurant Supply would provide certain equiprimespecifiedconditions taPlaintiff for

5> Plaintiff did not present evidence establishing that Defendant Nicholas Bladek ma
any material misrepresentations, and thus the Caul$ iDefendant Nicholas Blanck not liable
for fraud.
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use in his restaurant, and that they waldtiverand line up that equipment in the kitcheifr. (
20:4-6, 27:25-38:3; 39:10-41:25A “misrepresentation is material if the party would not have
entered into the agreement, but for the misrepresentati€ige€n v. Textron ycoming
Reciprocating Engine Diy874 A.2d 1179, 1186 (Pa. Super. Ct. 208B¢ also Sevin v.
Kelshaw 611 A.2d 1232, 1237 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1992)nisrepresentation is material if it is of
such character that . . . had it not been made, the transaction would not have been
consummated)! Defendant Korey Blanck’s misrepresentations were matetahintiff

expectd to receive new, functioning equipment, but instead got “a bunch of broken, uséd stuff.
(Tr. at11:25-12:2).In fact, Plaintiff credibly testified that Head to purchase new equipment
because all the equipment he receifrech Korey Blanck and Ace Restaurant Suppbs
inoperable. I@. at18:20-21, 48:16-18).

Second, Defendant Korey Blanck made these representations knowing that #ney wer
false, and with the intent of misleading Plaintiff in relying upon the falsesepations. “By its
very nature, ‘fraud can rarely if ever be shown by direct proof . . . It must nelyelssedargely
inferred from the surrounding circumstancesSmith v. United States Liability C@018 WL
3866079 at *3 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2018) (qugftohm & Haas Co. v. Cont’| Cas. C@81 A.2d
1172, 1178 (Pa. 2001p9ee also Liberty Bell Bank v. Rogerg6 F. App’x 147, 154 (3d Cir.
2018) (“[IIntent may be inferred from circumstantial evidenceThe evidence adduced at trial
supports a conclusion thefendanKorey Blanckhad the requisiteulpable state of mind
Most notablythe equipment Plaintiff receiveslas broken, inoperabland certainlynot “new”
asDefendant Korey Blanck representaad confirmedn the Sales Agreement$/oreover,

once Plaintiff began complaining about the condition of the equipment he red&ivey,

28



Blanck refused to provide Plaintiff any refund, and began evading Plaintiff's corcationis
and efforts to obtain the proper equipment.

The evidence at trialearly and convincingly showed that Defendants intended to
defraud Plaintiff. First, Defendant Korey Blanck represented that he and Defendanvdudd
supply new restaurant equipment to Plaintiff, and lin¢hap equipment in Simmeria’s kitchen
(Tr. at10:11-15:24; 39:10-41:25; 8F3; 119:7-16). But, this turned out to be fal§aidence
of an individual's conduct is instructive when determining intéft. State Farm Fire & Cas.

Co. v. Estate of Mehlmab89 F.3d 105, 114 (3d Cir. 2009) (“An actor is presumed to intend the
natural and expected results of his actions.”). Here, Defendants will&liyeced ‘a bunch of
broken, used stuff that was just dumped at [Simmeria]. . . it was nothing newgrasthin
represented(Tr. at 11:25-12:2, 12:22). Plaintiff contracted for thirteen péces of restaurant
equipment itemspf the equipment he did receive, he credibly testified “[n]Jone of the stuff was
new.” (d., at 41:13-14).Further, Defendant Korey Blanck represented he would be taking the
new restaurant equipment and “delivering [them into] the kitchen and putting [theliee®g in
line.” (Id. at 39:1920). However, Plaintiff credibly testified that, instead of delivering the
equipment as Defemdt Korey Blanck represented, “[tlhere was like four broken pieces of
something that got dumped off” in the middle of the restauraaitat40:24-31:17). The
inoperable items Defendants did deliver “were brought to Simmeria Cafatmlo@and just
dumped” and not properly positioned in the kitcheshDefendant Korey Blanck represented.

(Id. at 39:19-20).

| find Defendant Korey Blanck’s intentional disregard for his representatoRkintiff
as strong evidence of his fraudulent intefhis willful provision of broken and inoperable

equipment, simply dumped in the middle of the restaurant anglae®din the kitchenandin
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conjunction with the items Defendants failed to deliver, indicates that Defendesy Rlanck,
from his first contactwith Plaintiff, intended to disregard the contract and defraud Plaintiff of
money.

Defendants’ conduct when confronted by Plaintiff regarding the condition of equipme
and failure to delivealso supports a finding of Defendants’ intent to defrialaihtiff. Despite
Plaintiff contacting Defendants “[m]ultiple times” with his concerns,dbefnts refused to
provide Plaintiff with proper equipment in working condition or provide him a refund, at one
point telling Plaintiff “[w]hy don’t you just go to theestaurant supply store?” (Tr. 15:18, 21:9-
10). In his May 21, 2010 response letter, Defendant Korey Blanck misrepresented iff Plaint
that “[yJou ordered, you paid, and we delivered everything except one small loaking That
is the fact of your dire sale dated 2/12/10.” (Defs.’ Ex. 14h fact, all the items identified in
the February 12, 2019ale Agreemerttadnot been delivered. QompareDefs.” Ex. 1 (February
12, 2010 Sales Agreemend)ith Defs.” Ex. 5 (April 30, 2010 Delivery Form) Defendant
Korey Blanck’sprevarications anthisrepresentatianin his May 21, 2010 lettelemonstrates
his deceptiveintent. Defendants also exhibited their intent to defraud by avoiding Plaintiff's
phone callandpretending to be another employee. (Tr. at 15:18-20, 37:7-10). On one
occasion Plaintiff drove to Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply, and saw Defendants “going out
the backdoor when they saw [him] pulling up in the frontd. &t 15:21-23.

In sum, the willful provision of broken inoperable equipment coupled with Defendants’
fraudulent misrepresentations and evasive conduct when confronted with the equipmgnt issue
shows that Defendant Korey Blanck made these material misrepresentatiomnsgkinaivthey

were false, and with the intetat defraud Plaintiff.
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Lastly, Plaintiff justifiably relied on Defendant Korey Blansknisrepresentations, and
Plaintiff's resulting injury was proximately caused by that justifiable reliafi€e be justifiable,
reliance upon the representation of anothast be reasonablePorreco v. Porrecp811 A.2d
566, 571 (Pa. 2002). “Where the means of obtaining the information in question were not equal,
the representations of the person believed to possess superior information miay hgoel.”

Fort Washngton Resources, Inc. v. Tann8b8 F. Supp. 455, 460 (E.D. Pa. 1994) (cifigkin

v. Cohen70 A.2d 293, 295 (Pa. 1950)). “Whether the party claiming to have been defrauded
relied upon the false representation is a question of f&lverman v. BélSav. & Loan Ass’n

533 A.2d 110, 114 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1987).

Here,Plaintiff justifiably relied on Defendant Korey Blanck’s misrepresentatihat he
and Defendant Ace would provide the contradtad-estaurant equipment in the identified
condition. Plaintiff credibly testified that Defendant Korey Blanck came to Simmeria duje “[
sketched out what he was going to do. He gave me the whole equipment list. | meary he reall
gave me a great picture of how he was going to hook me up and set memupt’37f25-38:3).
Plaintiff credibly testified that Plaintiff himself picked out “No [equipmen#ie] totally trusted
[Defendant Korey Blanck].” I¢l. at 38:14);see alsdDefs.” Ex. 13) (Plaintiff noting that
“despite me repeatedly discussing with &pthat | was relying on his expertise (and his
assurances that he would make sure we had the exact equipment we need) . . . if). Plaint
further credibly testified that items listed in the two Sales Agreements werne tffiat
handwritten list that [Deindant Korey Blanck] made” and that the items listed in the Sales
Agreements “would have been what was based off of the initial drawiiig.’af 20:15, 19-20).
Defendant Korey Blanck’s misrepresentations led Plaintiffistifiably believe he was “ddiag

with a new restaurant supply comparmgecause Defendants misrepresented that “they had a
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relationship with [new restaurant equipment manufacturers] and that this ithehato[.]” (d.
at 16:8, 19-2p

Additionally, Plaintiff's injury was caused by his justifiable reliance ofedantKorey
Blancks misrepresentations. Because of the misrepresentations, Plaintiff paid $25,875.64 t
Defendants, expecting that iveuld receive the new restaurant equipment as listed in the Sales
Agreements. Instead of receiving the new equipment, Plaintiff rec&avaahch of broken,
used stuff that was just dumped at [Simmeria].” (N.T., 23:1Plaintiff “had to [go] out and
obtain all separate equipment and establish the kittfienat 18:20-21because “everything
that was delivered here ended up going right back down on a truck where our new equipment
came because it was just all trdsfid. at 58:16-18).Defendants’ failure to deliver the
promised equipmentelayedthe planned opening of Simmeria by “probably a month or two.”
(Id. at 18:24). Defendamforey Blanck’smisrepresentations directly caused the harm to
Plaintiff.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Defendant Korey Blanck is liable fod frader
Pennsylvania law.

Defendants aatend that, should liability be found, it should solely be against Defendant
Ace Restaurant Supply and not against the individual Defendants. In their ProposedsFanding
Fact and Conclusions of Law, Defendants argue “the testimony and admissieleev¥ails to
establish a sufficient basis to pierce the corporate veil . . . and if liabifigsessed it is against
the Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply and not against the Defendant Korey Blanck and the

Defendant Nicholas Blanck individually.” (Defs.’ Proposed Findings of Fact, p. 14 { 9)

6 Plaintiff does not request that the Court pierce the corporatemditherefore the
Court will not assess whether doing so would be proper. Regardless, DefendarBlookyis
personally liabledr his tortious conduct.
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However, “Pennsylvania law has long recognized the participation theoityaassaof
liability for the individual acts of an officer of a corporation. Under this theorgfiicer of a
corporation who takes part in the commission of a tort may be personally liable tiontibigs
acts.” Kelvin Cryosystems, Inc. v. Lightni2004 WL 2601121 at *12 (E.D. Pa. 1994) (citing
Wicks v. Milzoco Builders, Inc470 A.2d 86 (Pa. 1983)). “The general, if not universal, rule is
that an officer of a corporation who takes part in the commission of a tort by theatanmpds
personally liable therefor[.]Wicks 470 A.2d at 90.The Rennsylvania Superior Court has
explained the difference between liability imposed on a corporate officeetmyng the
corporate veil and liability pursuant to the participation theory:

There is a distinction between liability for individual

participation in a wrongful act and an individual’s responsibibty

any liability-creating act performed behind the veil of a sham

corporation. Where the court pierces the corporate veil, the owner

is liable because the corporation is not a bona fide independent

entity; therefore, its acts are truly his. Under thetigpation

theory, the court imposes liability on the individual as an actor rather

than as an owner. Such liability is not predicated on a finding that

the corporation is a sham and a mere alter ego of the individual

corporate officer. Instead, lialiyi attaches where the record

establishes the individual’s participation in the tortious activity.
Brindley v. Woodland Vill. Rest. In6G52 A.2d 865, 868 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1995) (quoiifigks
470 A.2d at 89-90). Accordingly, “under this theory, a coapmpfficer can be held liable for
‘malfeasance,’ i.e., the improper performance of an act, but not for ‘mereasanice,’ i.e., the
omission of an act which a person ought to d8tindley, 652 A.2d at 868 (quoting/icks 570
A.2d at 90).

Here, the Cor concludes that Defendant Korey Blanckgefsonally liabldor his

tortious acts” of fraud as “an officer of a corporation who takes part in the asombf a tort.

Kelvin Cryosystems, Inc2004 WL 2601121 at *12 (citing/icks 470 A.2d 86 (Pa. B3)).
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Defendant Korey Blanckimself committed the tort; accordingly, the Court concludes that he is
personally liable on Counts Ill and V.

D. Count IV: Unjust Enrichment

Plaintiff asserts in Count IV a cause of action for unjust enrichment. (Pl.’pICany{
88-92). In Pennsylvania, “an unjust enrichment claim may be pled as a companion, not an
alternative, to a tort claim. In that case, the unjust enrichment seekot@r a benefit the
defendant gained by committing the torSymphony FS Limited v. Thompshbio. 18-3904,
2018 WL 6715894, at *10 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 20, 2018). “In the tort setting, an unjust enrichment
claim is essentially another way of stating a traditional tort claim (i.e., if def¢ms permitted
to keep the benefit of his tortious conduct, he will be unjustly enrich&tgamfitters Local
Union No. 420 Welfare Fund v. Phillip Morris, Ind.71 F.3d 912, 936 (3d Cir. 1999).

A plaintiff claiming unjust enrichment must “show that the party against whom recovery
is sought either wrongfully secured or passively received a benefit thit @unconscionable

for the party to retain without compensating the provideB&ir v. Purcell 500 F. Supp. 2d

468, 499 (M.D. Pa. 2007) (quotimtershey Foods Corp. v. Ralph Chapek, |828 F.2d 989,

999 (3d Cir. 1987))Under Pennsylvania law, the elements of a claim for unjust enrichment are:
(1) the plaintiff conferred a benefit upon the defendant; (Zygmeciation of such a benefit by
defendant; and (3) the defendant accepted and retained such benefit under circuthsiiaihces
would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without payment of Galnenck v.
K.E. David, Ltd, 666 A.2d 327, 328 (Pa. Super. 19%8)e also Allegheny Gen. Hosp. v. Philip
Morris, Inc.,, 228 F.3d 429, 447 (3d Cir. 2000).

The Court concludes that Plaintiff proved the elements for a claim of unjust enmichme

against DefendastAce Restaurant Supply, LL&hdKorey Blanck. First, Plaintiff conferred a
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benefit upon Defendants Ace Restaurant Supply and Korey Blanck: Plaintiff paid $25,274.64
pursuant to the contracts. (Tr., at 11:11-19, 20:17-21:10). Second, Defaapjaetsated that
benefit astheyreaeived the monies Plaintiff paidSeed. at 78:13-82:7). Lastly, Defendargt

Ace Restaurant Supply and Korey Blanck accepted and retained that benefit in such
circumstances that it would be inequitable to retlanbenefiwithout payment of value:

Plaintiff paid the money solely because of, and in reliance upefgndant Korey Blanck’s
fraudulent misrepresentationsinder these circumstanceswmbuld be inequitable for

Defendand Ace Restaurant Supply and Korey Blanck to retain the money paid hiifRlai
Accordingly, the Court concludes that Plaintffentitled to recover against Defendants Ace
Restaurant Supply, LLC aritbrey Blanck on his unjust enrichmestaim.

E. Count VI: Negligent Misrepresentation

To succeed on a claim of negligent misrepresentatideruPennsylvania law, plaintiff
must show"1) a misrepresentation of a material fact; 2) made under circumstances in which the
misrepresenter ought to have known its falsity; 3) with an intent to induce anotbeotoita
and 4) wheh results in injury to a party acting in justifiable reliance on the misrepedisen”
Smith v. Lincoln Ben. Life CA95 F. App’x 821, 824 (3d Cir. 2010) (citilgt-Rite
Contractors, Inc. v. The Architectural Stud&66 A.2d 270, 277 (Pa. 2005)).

Plaintiff proved that Defendant Korey Blanck committed fraud/intentional
misrepresentation under Pennsylvania law. Similarly, Defendant KoaegIBIs liable for
negligent misrepresentation. First, he made a misrepresentation of nfatéridhat he ad
Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply would provide the iteengentified andh certain specified
conditions. (Tr., at 20:4-6, 27:25-38:3). Second, having found that Defendant Korey Blanck

made these material misrepresentations knowing of their faisityecessarily “ought to have
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known of its falsity.” Third, Defendant Korey Blanck intended to induce Plaintifflyougon
his false misrepresentations. Lastly, Plaintiff's resulting injury wasechlog his justifiable
reliance upon Defendant KoreyaBick’s intentional material misrepresentations. Accordingly,
Defendant Korey Blanck is liable for negligent misrepresentation underyheama law.

The Court concludes that Defendant Nicholas Blanck is not liable for negligent
misrepresentation. Pldiff presented no evidence establishing that Defendant Nicholas Blanck

made any representations of material fact, and therefore he is not liable.

V. DAMAGES

The Court finds Defendants not liable on Counts | and Il asserting violations of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1962(c) and (d). The Court finds Defendant Nicholas Blanck not liable on all Counts. The
Court finds Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply, LLC, and Defendant Korey Blanck, in his
individual capacity as the tortfeasor, liable for fraud/intentional misreptat®n, unjust
enrichment, and negligent misrepresentation. Accordingly, the Court will edggngnt for
Plaintiff as follows.

A. Actual Loss Damages

“Under Pennsylvania law, in an action based on fraud, the measure of damages is ‘actual
loss.” Delahanty v. First Pennsylvania Bank, N.464 A.2d 1243, 1257 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1983)
(quotingKaufman v. Mellon Nat’l Bank & Trust G866 F.2d 326 (3d Cir. 1966)Here,
Plaintiff's “actual loss” is $25,275.64: he paid Defendants this amount putsuhet Sales
Agreements he entered relying upon Defendant Korey Blanck’s fraud. Accotdudgynent
will be entered for Plaintiff against Defendants Ace Restaurant SudpGy, dand Defendant

Korey Blanck in the amount of $25,275.64.
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B. Legal Feesand Trebled Damages

Plaintiff requests an award for legal fees and costs stating that he “hasexkpend
approximately $18,000.00 in legal fees; Plaintiff has expended litigation ndkes amount of
$2,300.00.” (PI.’s Proposed Findings of Fact, ECF No. 73)pAdditionally, Plaintiff seeks a
trebling of damages.Id.). However, these remedies are provided for in the Civil Remedies of
the RICO Statute, 18 U.S.C. § 19®4it not by the state law claims on which Plaintiff has
prevailed Having found Defendants not liable on the RICO Counts, the @durtot award
legal feesor trebled damages.

C. Punitive Damages

“It is well established that, under Pennsylvania law, punitive damages may loedwa
in cases of common law fraudKlein v. Weidner729 F.3d 280, 296 (3d Cir. 2013).
“Generally, the plaintiff in an action for fraud may recover all actuaklsaused by the
defendant’s fraud. The plaintiff may also recover punitive damages wheseateerggravated
circumstances.”Smith v. Renaub64 A.2d 188, 193 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1989) (citiogg v.
McAllister, 118 A. 506 (Pa. 1922)) (internal citations omittetBunitive damages may be
awarded for conduct that is outrageous, because of the defendant’s evil motive cdléss re
indifference to theights of others.”Hutchison ex rel. Hutchinson v. Ludd@70 A.2d 766, 770
(Pa. 2005).“[P]unitive damages are penal in nature and are proper only in cases where the
defendant’s actions are so outrageous as to demonstrate willful, wanton or remktess.’c Id.
“The purpose of punitive damages is to punish a tortfeasor for outrageous conduct and to deter
him or others like him from similar conductld.

“Pennsylvania law requires that plaintiff support a punitive damages claisvitdgnce

sufficient to establish that (1) a defendant had a subjective appreciation of the risk a¥ harm t
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which plaintiff was exposed and that (2) he acted, or failed to act, as the casgimgoinscious
disregard of that risk.”Norfolk Southern Railway Co. v. Pittsburg & W.Va. R183 F. Supp.

3d 778, 817 (W.D. Pa. 2015) (quotiHgitchinson 870 A.2d at 772). Thus, “to justify an award

of punitive damages, the fafitder must determine that the defendant acted with a culpable state
of mind, i.e., with evil motive or reckless indifference to the rights of otheBrand Mktg. Grp.

LLC v. Intertek Testing Servs., N.A., 801 F.3d 347, 360 (3d Cir. 2015) (quotidgtchinson

v. Penske Truck Leasing C876 A.2d 978, 983-84 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2005)).

Additionally, a punitive damages award must comply with the Due Process Cldhse of
Fourteenth Amendmenttate Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campp888 U.S. 408, 416 (2003).
“In determining whether a punitive damages award comports with due process, amirts m
‘consider three guideposts: (1) the degree of reprehensibility of the defenuéatonduct(2)
the disparity between trectual or potetial harmsuffered by the plaintiff and its punitive
damages award; and (3) the difference between the punitive damagescdalaatide jury and
the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cas€&B Occupational Therapy,

Inc. v. RHA Health Servs., Ine99 F.3d 184, 189-90 (3d Cir. 2007) (quotampbel] 538
U.S. at 418)citing BMW of N. Am., Inc. v. Goré17 U.S. 559, 574-75 (1996)). The first factor
is “[p]erhaps the most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive daaveayel.”
Id. at 363 (citingGore, 517 U.S. at 575). Given the importance of this first factor, the Supreme
Court has provided further guidance and instructed courts to consider the applio&Hilgy
following subfactors:

(1) the harm caused was physical as opposed to economic; (2) the

tortious conduct evinced an indifference to or reckless disregard of

the health or safety of others; (3) the target of the conduct had

financial vulnerability; (4) the conduct involved repeated actions or

was an isolad incident; and (5) the harm was the result of
intentional malice, trickery, or deceit, or mere accident.
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CGB Occupational Therapy, Inc. v. RHA Health Servs., #89 F.3d 184, 190 (3d Cir. 2007)
(quotingState Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campps88 U.S. 408, 419 (2003)).

The Court concludes that an award of punitive damages against Defendant Korey Blanck
is properto deter him and others from committing willfududas he did in this matter.
Hutchinson 870 A.2d at 770 (“The purpose of punitive damages is to punish a tortfeasor for
outrageous conduct and to deter him or others like him from similar conduct.”). Although the
harm was economic as opposed to physical, and Korey Blanck did not axthifiierence to the
health of others, the remaining factors weigh in favor of imposing punitive dangaasta
Defendant Korey Blanck for hisaudulent, deceptive, and tortious conduct. Defendant Korey
Blanck preyed on a fledgling restauranteur, and intended to defraud him of nidreegonduct
involved repeated actions, as Defendants committed numerous acts of wire andudail fr
against Plaintiff over the course of their business relationship. This was notaa@dsotident.
Since his first interactions with Plaintifbefendant Korey Binck consistently conducted
himselfin a manner showing “conduct that is outrageous . . . [and with] reckless indifference to
the rights of others[,JHutchison 870 A.2d at 770 (Pa. 2005): Defendant willfully provided
broken and inoperable equipment which was supposed to be new, pddtebd other
individuals on the phon@and ranout the back door when Plaintiff arrived to discuss the broken
equipment. This evidenahows that the harm was a direct result of “intentional malice,
trickery, or deceit.”CGB Occupational Therapy, Inet99 F.3d at 190.

In sum, the Court concludes an award of punitive damages against Defendant Korey
Blanckis propeffor hiscompleteand utter disregard for the rights of others and to deter him and
others from similar flagrant conduct. While there is no “bright-line ratiotéurts to apply in

calculating punitive damages, “few awards exceeding a sthgieratio between punitive and
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compensatory damages, to a significaagrée, will satisfy due processCampbel] 538 U.S. at
425 (finding a ratio of 145:1 to violate Due Process and explaining that, historically, double
treble, or quadruple damages are used to deter). | conclude that a punitive damabasawa
ratio d 1:1—resulting in doubling Plaintiff's damagesds appropriate to deter future tortious
misconduct.Accordingly, the Court will enter an award of punitive damages for Plaagdfnst

Defendant Korey Blanck in the amount of $25,275.64.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court will enter Judgment in favor of Deferftznt
Restaurant Supply, LLC; Korey Blanck; and Nicholas Blanck on Counts One and Two of the
Complaint. The Court will enter Judgment in favor of Defendant Nicholas Blanck on Counts
Three, Four, Five, and Six of the Complaint. The Court will enter Judgment in favoiniifiPla
against Defendant Korey Blanck and Defendant Ace Restaurant Supply in the amount of
$25,275.64 on Counts Three, Four, Five, and Six of the CompRiaittiff is further entitled to
apunitive damageaward against Defendant Korey Blarfok the assessed amount of
$25,275.64.

Judgment will be entered in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of $50,551A28.
appropriate Order follows.

BY THE COURT:
/sl Lynne A. Sitarski

LYNNE A. SITARSKI
United States Magistrate Judge
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